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The Obama Administration’s Open Government Initiative: Issues for Congress

Summary

On hisfirst full day in office (January 21, 2009), President Barack Obama issued two memoranda
“for the Heads of Executive Departments and Agencies” that were related to transparency in
government. One memorandum focused on the administration of the Freedom of Information Act
(FOIA), and the other focused on transparency and open government. The transparency
memorandum committed the administration to “an unprecedented level of openness’ and to the
establishment of “a system of transparency, public participation, and collaboration.” Some
scholars argue that these memoranda were a significant break from the policies of the previous
administration.

Over the next few months, the Office of Management and Budget (OM B)—a component of the
Executive Office of the President—administered a series of online public feedback forums as part
of a comprehensive Open Government Initiative (OGI). Through the forums, OMB sought input
from federal employees and the public on ways to improve government transparency, increase
public participation with the federal government, and encourage collaboration among federal
government agencies, private citizens, and other entities.

On December 8, 2009, the Obama Administration released a third memorandum, an Open
Government Directive (OGD), that included more detailed instructions for departments and
agencies on how they areto “implement the principles of transparency, participation, and
collaboration.” Among other policy initiatives, the memorandum required all federal agenciesto
releasethree “high-value’ datasets that were previously unpublished. In addition, the
memorandum required each agency to designate a “ high-level senior official to be accountable for
the quality and objectivity of, and internal controls over, the Federal spending information” that
agencies currently provide to government websites like USAspending.gov and Recovery.gov.
Each agency was also required to create an “ open government plan ... that will describe how it
will improve transparency and integrate public participation and collaboration into its activities.”
The presidential memorandum included a series of staggered deadlines for implementing each
part of the directive.

Both the Administration and private organizations have examined federal agency efforts to meet
the OGD’s requirements. These examinations have found that agencies met the requirements, but
with varying results. Some agencies completed the OGD requirements by setting up required
websites, but providing limited information or public participation. Other agencies explored
methods of integrating their newly released datasets into their open government websites and
providing forums for the public to offer thoughts on ways to improve the sites further.

This report reviews and discusses President Obama’'s Open Government Initiative and the Open
Government Directive. The report then analyzes both agency response to the OGI and the OGD,
and examines whether the OGD’s requirements can meet the stated goals of the Administration.
Thereport discusses the three central tenets of the Administration’s OGD—transparency, public
participation, and collaboration—and analyzes each one individually to determine whether
agencies are meeting these requirements and whether the requirements may improve the
effectiveness of the federal government.
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The Obama Administration’s Open Government Initiative: Issues for Congress

Introduction

Many Presidents have adopted policies to address the tension between government transparency
and protection of sensitive information. Sometimes these policies are more restrictive and
protective of institutional, commercial, and individual privacy aswell as security concerns. Other
times, however, policies have encouraged a presumption of disclosure of information.* An
Administration can issueits information policies in a variety of ways. For example, some
Presidents issue their transparency policies through the Department of Justice (DOJ), as was done
during the presidency of George W. Bush.? In contrast, President Barack Obama issued three
memoranda related to federal transparency from the Executive Office of the President during his
first year in office. In addition, the Office of Management and Budget (OMB), under the direction
of the ObamaAdministration, underwent three phases of public information collection that
presumably helped shape the Administration’s transparency initiatives.

On hisfirst full day in office (January 21, 2009), President Barack Obama issued two memoranda
“for the Heads of Executive Departments and Agencies” that were related to transparency in
government.® One memorandum focused on the administration of the Freedom of Information
Act (FOIA), and the other focused on transparency and open government. On December 6, 2009,
OMB issued a third memorandum seeking to operationalize the concepts of transparency, public
participation, and collaboration.”

Although each executive-branch agency met the deadlines set out in the December 6, 2009,
memorandum, the Administration and some observers outside of government noted that the
agency responses varied in quality. This report reviews the objectives delineated in President
Obama’s Open Government Initiative (OGI) and examines the expectations placed on agencies to
meet these objectives. This report reviews department and agency attempts to implement Obama
Administration initiatives that seek to make the federal government more transparent,
participatory, and collaborative. The report then analyzes options for congressional action in this
area.

! The Administration of former President George W. Bush, for example, adopted a policy of “full and deliberate
consideration” of any requests for federal government information made by the public. See Memorandum from John
Ashcroft, Attorney Generd, to Heads of All Federa Departments and Agencies, October 12, 2001, http://www.doi .gov/
foia/foia.pdf. The Administration of President Barack Obama, on the other hand, has stated itsintention to adopt a
policy of presumptive disclosure that will be described in greater detail later in this report. See Memorandum from
President Barack Obama For Heads of Executive Departments and Agencies, January 21, 2009,
http://www.whitehouse.gov/the_press_office/Freedomof InformationAct/.

2 John Ashcroft, Attorney General, Memorandum to the Heads of Federal Departments and Agencies: The Freedom of
Information Act, Department of Justice, Washington, DC, October 12, 2001, http://www.doi.gov/foia/foia.pdf.

3 Executive Office of the President, “ Freedom of Information Act,” 74 Federal Register 4693, January 26, 2009. The
memorandum was released on January 21, 2009, http://www.whitehouse.gov/the press office/
FreedomofInformationAct/. Executive Office of the President, “ Transparency and Open Government,” 74 Federal
Register 4685, January 26, 2009. The memorandum was released on January 21, 2009, http://www.whitehouse.gov/
the_press_office/Trangparency_and_Open_Government/; and Executive Office of the President, “ Transparency and
Open Government,” 74 Federal Register 4685, January 26, 2009. The memorandum was released on January 21, 2009,
http://www.whitehouse.gov/the press office/Transparency_and_Open_Government/.

4 Executive Office of the President, Office of Management and Budget, Memorandum for the Heads of Executive

Departments and Agencies: Open Government Directive, Washington, DC, December 8, 2009,
http://www.whitehouse.gov/omb/assets'memoranda_2010/m10-06.pdf.
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The Three Memoranda

Since entering office, President Obama and his Administration have issued three memoranda
directly related to transparency and open government issues. Two of those memoranda were
released on the President’s first full day in office. The third memorandum, which requires
agencies to implement certain open government ideas, was issued in December 20009.

One of the two January 21, 2009, memoranda, the * Transparency and Open Government”
memorandum, said that the new Administration was * committed to creating an unprecedented
level of opennessin government.”* The memorandum focused on fostering a more open
government based on three principles: transparency, public participation, and collaboration.

The memorandum required the chief technology officer and the director of OMB to issue, within
120 days, recommendations for the Open Government Directive “that instructs executive
departments and agencies to take specific actions implementing the principles set forth in this
memorandum.”®

The second January 21, 2009, memorandum, the “ Freedom of Information Act” memorandum,
said that FOIA “should be administered with a clear presumption: In the face of doubt, openness
prevails.”” The memorandum said that under the new administration “ [a]ll agencies should adopt
a presumption in favor of disclosure, in order to renew their commitment to the principles
embodied in FOIA, and to usher in a new era of open Government. The presumption of disclosure
should be applied to all decisions involving FOIA.”®

The memorandum then directed the attorney general to “issue new guidelines governing the
FOIA to the heads of executive departments and agencies, reaffirming the commitment to
accountability and transparency, and to publish such guidelines in the Federal Register.”®

In addition to the two memoranda, the Administration conducted a series of online public input
forums between January and July 2009, seeking feedback and ideas from federal employees, the
public, and industry representatives on ways to make the federal government more transparent,
collaborative, and participatory.

On December 8, 2009, Peter R. Orszag, the director of OMB, released a third open-government-
related memorandum, the “Open Government Directive’” memorandum, that included more
detailed instructions for departments and agencies on how to “implement the principles of
transparency, participation, and collaboration.” *® Among the initiatives in the memorandum was a

5 Executive Office of the President, “ Transparency and Open Government,” 74 Federal Register 4685, January 26,
2009. The memorandum was released on January 21, 2009, http://www.whitehouse.gov/the_press_office/
Transparency_and_Open_Government/.

® Ibid.

" Executive Office of the President, “ Freedom of Information Act,” 74 Federal Register 4693, January 26, 2009. The
memorandum was released on January 21, 2009, http://www.whitehouse.gov/the press office/
FreedomofInformationAct/.

8 Ibid.

? Ibid. The memorandum did not include a deadline by which such guideines must be published.

10 Executive Office of the President, Office of Management and Budget, Memorandum for the Heads of Executive

Departments and Agencies: Open Government Directive, Washington, DC, December 8, 2009,
(continued...)
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requirement to give the public access to “high-value’ datasets that were previously unpublished.
In addition, the memorandum required each agency to designate a “ high-level senior official to be
accountable for the quality and objectivity of, and internal controls over, the Federal spending
information” that agencies currently provide to government websites like USAspending.gov and
Recovery.gov. ™ Each agency was also required to create an “ open government plan ... that will
describe how it will improve transparency and integrate public participation and collaboration
into its activities.”? The memorandum set a series of staggered deadlines for each department and
agency to comply with the new requirements.

This report examines the Obama Administration’s Open Government Initiative. It reviews the
Administration’s requirements for each executive-branch department and agency, and it examines
department and agency results in increasing transparency, public participation, and collaboration.
This report also analyzes options for congressional oversight and possible legislative and
oversight actions in these areas.

Government Transparency

The tension between a transparent government and the maintenance of proper levels of secrecy
has existed throughout the nation’s history. Sometimes Congress or the President may choose to
keep information secret, arguing that it serves to protect national security or an individual’s
privacy. Other times the federal government may make information public in an attempt to
increase public trust in the deliberative democratic process. Scholars Sidney A. Shapiro and Rena
I. Steinzor wrote in a 2006 article on executive branch secrecy and accountability that

[c]laims that the executive branch needs extensve secrecy to operate effectively are
troublesome because of theimportant role transparency playsin the American condtitutional
system of checks and balances. When secrecy becomes sufficiently pervasive, it becomes
difficult, even impossible, for Congress and the public to determinewhat isgoing onin the
executive branch. Government failures are hidden and the public interest suffers. Indeed, itis
not an exaggeration to say that pervasive secrecy can fatally undermine the structure of our
congtitutional government by all owing the executive branch to withhold crucial information
from the other two branches and, asimportant, a free press.

Nevertheless, absolutetransparency isneither aredlistic nor an appropriategoal. Therdease
of some types of information can do more harm than good. ... The difficult public policy
issue, of course, is striking an appropriate bal ance between openness and secrecy.™

This section offers a brief overview of some critical documents and events that shaped
government transparency and information secrecy in the U.S. federal government.

(...continued)

http://www.whitehouse.gov/omb/assets'memoranda_2010/m10-06.pdf. It is unclear how much influence the online
forums influenced the December 8, 2009, memorandum.

Y Ibid., p. 3.
2bid., p. 4.

13 Sydney A. Shapiro and Renal. Steinzor, “ The People's Agent: Executive Branch Secrecy and Accountability in an
Age of Terrorism,” Law and Contemporary Problems, val. 69, no. 99 (Summer 2006).
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The Constitution and Transparency

The United States Constitution contains some of the same conflicts between transparency and
secrecy that continueto inspire debates in all three co-equal branches of the federal government.
InArticlel, Section 5, for example, the Constitution states that

Each House shall keep aJournal of its Proceedings, and from timetotime publish the same,
excepting such Partsasmay in their Judgment require Secrecy; andthe Y easand Naysof the
Membersof either House on any question shall, at the Desire of onefifth of those Present, be
entered on the Journal.

Pursuant to the Constitution, therefore, Congress is required to keep a publicly accessible record
of its actions, but is also given the authority to keep certain topics secret. The Constitution makes
no specific reference to what subject matter could be kept secret by Congress, and leaves that
question to be answered by each chamber individually.

The only explicit reference to the executive branch’s responsibilities to share government
information isin Article 11, Section 3, of the Constitution, which requires the President “from
timeto time” to “giveto the Congress Information of the State of the Union, and recommend to
their Consideration such Measures as he shall judge necessary and expedient.” In modern times,
this constitutional requirement has been filled by the annual State of the Union Address presented
to ajoint session of Congress.™

In addition to explicit constitutional requirements, implicit responsibilities and powers may be
found in the Constitution. Oversight, for example, is an implicit constitutional power and
obligation of the Congress.™ According to historian Arthur Schlesinger, Jr., “it was not considered
necessary to make an explicit grant of such [oversight] authority,” wrote Schlesinger. “The power
to make laws implied the power to see whether they were faithfully executed.”*® The Constitution
also granted Congress an array of formal powers—the purse strings, lawmaking, impeachment,
among others—to hold the president and the administration accountable for their actions or
inactions. In short, oversight plays a key role in our system of checks and balances.

Among the various methods Congress may use to conduct its oversight duties is creating and
enforcing agency reporting requirements. Numerous laws require executive agencies to submit
reports periodically, and as required by specific events or certain conditions, to Congress and its
committees. As one scholar explained:

Reporting requirements are provisions in laws requiring the executive branch to submit
specified information to Congress or committees of Congress. Their basic purpose is to
provide data and analysis Congress needs to oversee the implementation of legidation and
foreign policy by the executive branch.*’

14 For more information about the State of the Union Address, see CRS Report R40132, The President’ s Sate of the
Union Address: Tradition, Function, and Policy Inplications, by Colleen J. Shogan and Thomas H. Nede.

%5 For more information on congressional oversight see CRS Report R41079, Congressional Oversight: An Overview,
by Walter J. Oleszek.

16 Arthur M. Schlesinger, Jr. and Roger Burns, eds., Congress Investigates: A Documented History, 1792-1974, vol. 1
(New York: Chelsea House, 1975), p. xix.

Y Ellen C. Callier, “Foreign Policy by Reporting Requirement,” Washington Quarterly, Winter 1988, p. 75.
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Generally, reporting requirements encourage sdf-evaluation by the executive branch and promote
agency accountability to Congress. Reporting requirements involve weighing Congress's need for
information and analysis to conduct evaluations of agencies and programs against the imposition
of burdensome or unnecessary obligations on executive-branch entities.

The executive branch has explicit statutory authorities and may claim additional implied powers
to withhold certain documents or information from release. Most records of recent former
Presidents and former Vice Presidents, for example, are required by statute to be turned over to
the National Archives and Records Administration at the end of each administration, pursuant to
the Presidential Records Act.”® A series of executive orders,® however, have modified how much
time aformer or incumbent president or vice president has to decide whether to block certain
presidential records from release. The Constitution makes no explicit referenceto retaining
presidential records, nor does the Constitution explicitly authorize presidents to issue executive
orders. Both of these actions stem from implied presidential powers in the Constitution.

The Freedom of Information Act

It was not until the 1966 enactment of the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA; 5 U.S.C. § 552)
that individuals, corporations, and other entities were given “ presumptive access to unpublished,
existing and identifiable records of the agencies of the Federal executive branch without having to
demonstrate a need or reason for such request.”®

Although the ariginal FOIA and its subsequent amendments make executive-branch documents
more accessible to the public, the act includes nine exemptions that permit agencies to decline
requests for information:

1. Information properly classified for national defense or foreign policy purposes as
secret under criteria established by an executive order;

2. Information relating solely to agency internal personnd rules and practices,
3. Data specifically excepted from disclosure by a statute which either requires that
matters be withheld in a non-discretionary manner or which establishes particular

criteria for withholding or refers to particular types of matters to be withheld;

4. Trade secrets and commercial or financial information obtained from a person that is
privileged or confidential;

5. Inter- or intra-agency memoranda or |letters that would not be available by law except
to an agency in litigation;

'8 For more information on the Presidential Records Act and the preservation of presidential records, see CRS Report
R40238, Presidential Records: Issues for the 111" Congress, by Wendy R. Ginsberg.

1% For more information on executive orders, see CRS Report RS20846, Executive Orders. Issuance and Revocation,
by VanessaK. Burrows.

% Harold C. Relyea, “Federal Freedom of Information Policy: Highlights of Recent Developments,” in Gover nment
Information Quarterly, vol. 26 (2009), p. 314. For more information on FOIA, see CRS Report R40766, Freedom of
Information Act (FOIA): Issues for the 111" Congress, by Wendy R. Ginsberg.
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6. Personnd, medical, or similar files the disclosure of which would constitute an
unwarranted invasion of personal privacy;

7. Certain kinds of investigatory records compiled for law enforcement purposes;
8. Certain information relating to the regulation of financial institutions; and
9. Geological and geophysical information and data. (5 U.S.C. § 552(b)).

If arequester seeks information in one of the preceding nine categories, he or sheisto be notified
that the request may not befilled. The agency is required to cite the exemption it is using to
refuse the information request.

A requester who is dissatisfied with an agency response to his or her request may pursue a
remedy in the courts or seek arbitration at the Office of Government Information Services, which
is located in the National Archives and Records Administration.?

Significant Events May Affect Transparency Policies

Attitudes toward transparency can change over time, often affected by the political climate of the
country or by significant events that may change opinions on what and how much information
should be publicly available.

For example, terrorist attacks on the World Trade Center in New York City and the Pentagon in
Washington, DC, on September 11, 2001, prompted the George W. Bush Administration to adopt
new policies on accessing federal government information.

One month after the September 11 attacks, for example, then-Attorney General John Ashcroft
issued a memorandum redefining how FOIA was to be applied, saying agency and department
heads should release documents “ only after full and deliberate consideration of the institutional,
commercial, and personal privacy interests that could be implicated by disclosure of the
information.” * The memorandum continued:

When you carefully consider FOIA requests and decide to withhold records, in wholeor in
part, you can be assured that the Department of Justice will defend your decisions unless
they lack asound legal basis or present an unwarranted risk of adverseimpact on the ability
of other agencies to protect other important records.®

Because the transparency policies of each Administration frequently are not codified, they can be
modified at any time. Each President has the opportunity to determine how to apply and
administer existing transparency statutes, asis evidenced by the changes adopted the Obama
Administration, which will be described in the next section of this report.

2 The Nationa Archives, “The Office of Government Information Services,” http://www.archives.gov/ogis/.

2 Attorney Genera John Ashcroft, Memorandum For the Heads of All Federal Departments and Agencies,
Department of Justice, The Freedom of Information Act, Washington, DC, Octaober 12, 2001, http://www.doi.gov/foia/
foia.pdf.

2 bid.
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The Obama Administration

The January 2009 Memoranda

Asnoted earlier in this report, on hisfirst full day in office, President Barack Obama issued two
memoranda for the heads of executive departments and agencies:

e The“Freedom of Information Act” memorandum?*: and

e The*“Transparency and Open Government” memorandum.”

FOIA

The memorandum that addressed FOIA, required, among other things, the executive branch to
adopt “ a presumption in favor of disclosure’ of federal records.” The memorandum directed the
attorney general to “issue new guidelines governing the FOIA to the heads of executive
departments and agencies, reaffirming the commitment to accountability and transparency, and to
publish such guidelinesin the Federal Register.”*

On March 19, 2009, Attorney General Eric Holder issued a memorandum in which he required
“ A Presumption of Openness” in relation to federal records and the application of FOIA.? The
memorandum explicitly rescinded former Attorney General John Ashcroft’s October 12, 2001,
memorandum. Mr. Holder’s memorandum read as foll ows:

Firgt, an agency should not withhold information simply becauseit may dosolegally.... An
agency should not withhold records merely becauseit can demonstrate, as atechnical matter,
that the records fall within the scope of a FOIA exemption.

Second, whenever an agency determines that it cannot make full disclosure of arequested
record, it must consider whether it can make partial disclosure. Agencies should always be
mindful that the FOIA requires them to take reasonable steps to segregate and release
nonexempt information. Even if some parts of arecord must be withheld, other partseither
may not be covered by a statutory exemption, or may be covered only in atechnical sense
unrelated to the actual impact of disclosure.

At the same time, the disclosure obligation under the FOIA isnot absolute....

% Executive Office of the President, “ Freedom of Information Act,” 74 Federal Register 4693, January 26, 2009. The
memorandum was released on January 21, 2009, http://www.whitehouse.gov/the press office/
Freedomof InformationAct/.

% The White House, Memorandum for the Heads of Executive Departments and Agencies: Transparency and Open
Government, Office of the Press Secretary, Washington, DC, January 21, 2009, http://www.gwu.edu/~nsarchiv/news/
20090121/2009_transparency_memo.pdf.

% president Barack Obama, Freedom of Information Act: Memorandum for the Heads of Executive Departments and
Agencies, The White House, Washington, DC, January 21, 2009, http://www.whitehouse.gov/the_press_office/
FreedomofInformationAct/. For more information on this memorandum, see CRS Report R40766, Freedom of
Information Act (FOIA): Issues for the 111" Congress, by Wendy R. Ginsberg.

% |bid. The memorandum did not include a deadline by which such guideines must be published.

% Attorney General Eric Holder, Memorandum For the Heads of Executive Departments and Agencies, U.S.
Department of Justice, Washington, DC, March 19, 2009, pp. 1-2, http://www.usdoj.gov/ag/foi a-memo-march2009.pdf.
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[T]he Department of Justice will defend a denial of a FOIA request only if (1) the agency
reasonably foreseesthat disclosure would harm an interest protected by one of the satutory
exemptions, or (2) disclosureis prohibited by law.?

Transparency and Open Government

The other January 21, 2010, memorandum on “ Transparency and Open Government,” said that
the new administration “is committed to creating and unprecedented level of opennessin
Government.”* It stressed three principles that the administration believed would strengthen the
country’s democracy and “promote efficiency and effectiveness in Government:” transparency,
public participation, and collaboration.

e Transparency—The memorandum said that “[t]ransparency promotes
accountability and provides information for citizens about what their
Government is doing,”* adding that the administration “will take appropriate
action, consistent with law and policy, to disclose information rapidly in forms
that the public can readily find and use.” * Agencies were instructed to find ways
to use new technol ogies to make public available information on agency
operations and decisions. Agencies were also dire